1951

# Gertrude Gibbs, Lynn P. Gibbs and Gaye Gibbs Smith v. Blue Cab, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the morning of the 24th day of November, 1948, about 6:40 A.M., one of the defendant's taxicabs driven by one Ronald D. Mullen, its agent, was proceeding easterly on 23rd Street in Ogden, Utah, at a rate of speed between 20 and 25 miles per hour (TR-55). The street

was damp and the morning was dark and rainy (TR-55). As the taxicab came to the intersection of 23rd Street and Jefferson Avenue the driver, Ronald D. Mullen, observed the front wheel of a bicycle in his left front headlight approximately ten to fifteen feet ahead of the taxicab (TR-55, 56). The taxicab struck the bicycle and one F. Parley Gibbs in the southwest quadrant of the intersection, and the bicycle and taxicab came to rest easterly of the area of impact (Stipulated Diagram). The intersection was lighted on the north-east corner by a street lamp (Stipulated Diagram). After the impact F. Parley Gibbs, wheeled his bicycle northward on Jefferson Avenue (TR-52). The taxicab then proceeded one-half block east on 23rd Street and picked up a passenger (TR-58). The taxi-driver then and there admitted to the passenger that he did not see Mr. Gibbs until he hit him, and that his vision was obscured (TR-7).

F. Parley Gibbs died as a result of this collision. There is absolutely no evidence in the record as to the deceased's conduct prior to the collision in question. There is no evidence in the record regarding which direction the deceased was moving prior to the impact, or whether he was riding his bicycle or merely pushing it or standing still in the intersection.

The only heirs of F. Parley Gibbs brought this action against the defendant to recover damages for his wrongful death. The case was tried before a jury, and the trial court directed a verdict for the defendant against the plaintiffs upon the ground that deceased

was contributorily negligent as a matter of law in failing to keep a proper lookout prior to the collision (TR-89, 90).

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFFS UPON THE GROUND THAT DECEASED WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN THAT DECEASED WAS PRESUMED TO HAVE BEEN ACTING WITH DUE CARE, AND SAID PRESUMPTION WAS NOT OVERCOME.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFFS UPON THE GROUND THAT DECEASED WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN THAT CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE WAS A QUESTION OF FACT FOR THE JURY.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFFS UPON THE GROUND THAT DECEASED WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, AS THE QUESTION OF WHETHER OR NO DECEASED'S CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE, IF ANY, PROXIMATELY CONTRIBUTED TO HIS DEATH WAS AN ISSUE OF FACT FOR THE JURY.

## ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFFS UPON THE GROUND THAT DECEASED WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN THAT DECEASED WAS PRESUMED TO HAVE BEEN ACTING WITH DUE CARE, AND SAID PRESUMPTION WAS NOT OVERCOME.

The question to be determined in deciding this point is: Was there sufficient evidence introduced to show decedent was contributorily negligent as a matter of law? Let us review such evidence as shown by the record.

The only testimony regarding decedent's conduct was given by the driver of respondent's vehicle. His testimony was that decedent's bike was first seen in his left front headlight (TR-55 and 61) some 10 feet to 15 feet away (TR-60), and that at no time did he see the decedent prior to hitting him (TR-58), and that the front wheel of the bike was turned in a southeasterly direction (TR-62) or very nearly parallel to respondent's vehicle (TR-62). This testimony of respondent's agent, along with the physical evidence (Stipulated Diagram) are all that the Court can consider in overcoming the presumption of due care. It should be noted that there is no evidence showing what the decedent was doing at the time of impact; whether he was mounted upon his bike or afoot; whether he was stopped or moving in a forward direction.

Therefore, we must ask ourselves: Is the testimony that the front wheel of a bike is seen and struck in the center of an intersection sufficient evidence to overcome the presumption of due care to which the decedent was entitled and hold that he was negligent as a matter of law? It is the contention of the appellant that this is not sufficient evidence to overcome such presumption and the following cases are cited in support of such con-



tention. In the recent case of *Mingus v. Ollson*, (*Utah-1949*), *201 Pac. 2nd 495*, the decedent, a pedestrian, was killed while crossing 13th East Street on Westminster Avenue in Salt Lake City at night-time. The Court ruled that the presumption of due care was overcome because of concrete testimony by the decedent's wife, who was walking with him when he was struck, to the effect that decedent failed to look in any direction before stepping into the street. The concurring opinion says: (Page 499)

“Of course, if there was a complete absence of evidence as to whether he took any precautions to avoid the accident, then the law creates a presumption that he took reasonable precautions for his own safety and that he was injured in spite of such precautions.

“But here there was evidence from which the jury could reasonably find that he took no precaution for his own safety, and on the production of such evidence the presumption disappears from the case and the question must be determined from the evidence. *Of course the facts upon which the presumption is based are still in evidence and if they have a logical tendency to prove that the decedent used reasonable care for his own safety, they may be considered in determining the question.*” (Italics added).

In another recent decision, *Compton et al v. Ogden Union Ry. & Depot Company*, (*Utah-1951*), *235 Pac. 2nd 515*, the decedent was killed when struck by defendant's engine in its yard at Ogden, Utah. The trial court entered

judgment of dismissal at conclusion of plaintiff's case. In this case, decedent was walking with a companion who accounted for all her movements immediately prior to, and at the time she was struck.

The court in its opinion said that there is a strong presumption based on the instinct of self-preservation that the deceased was exercising due care for her own safety and which may take the place of evidence sufficient to make findings on, in the absence of other evidence. It then goes on to say:

“The presumption is applicable where there is no evidence as to care used, or perhaps where the evidence comes from an adverse witness who may be subject to disbelief by the jury, or where there is sufficient uncertainty in the evidence as to cast doubt on the testimony.”

There are several Utah cases sustaining instructions that the presumption must be considered by the jury in cases where no witnesses have seen the mishap and physical evidence alone must be relied upon by defendants to sustain a finding by the jury of contributory negligence.

In *Lewis v. Rio Grande Western Ry. Co.*, 40 Utah 483, 123 Pac. 97, decedent was killed at night at defendant's crossing. No eye witnesses of the accident testified, and the body was found at the side of defendant's tracks on the morning following the mishap. Decedent was walk-

ing when killed, and it was admitted by plaintiff that the train could have been seen some 200 to 250 feet from the crossing. An instruction was given and sustained that it must be presumed that deceased used due care. The court states:

“The important question is: does the evidence when viewed in the light most favorable to respondents, overcome this legal presumption of ordinary care on the part of Lewis? We think not.”

See also *Coray v. Ogden Union Ry. & Depot Co.*, 111 Utah, 541, 180 Pac. 2nd 542, which is a similar case in which a switchman was killed while on duty and his body later found lying near the tracks. See also *Davis v. Denver & Rio Grande Western Railway Co.*, 45 Utah 17, 142 Pac. 705, a case in which the deceased was hit by defendant's train and no witnesses testified regarding the facts surrounding the mishap. The court in this case gave the following instructions and it was held proper upon appeal:

“There is a presumption of law that every man exercises due care for his own safety when in a place of danger and that deceased did so at the time and place when and where he met death, so that plaintiff was not required to prove affirmatively that deceased looked and listened for the train, the presumption being that he did so, and burden on defendant to prove otherwise, which was bound to establish that fact by a preponderance of the evidence.”

In *Evans v. Oregon Shortline Ry. Co.*, 37 Utah 431, 108 Pac. 638, decedent was killed while crossing defendant's tracks with team and wagon. The court upon appeal held:

"It is a presumption of law that every man exercise due care for his own safety when in a place of danger, and the presumption is that deceased did so when he approached the crossing."

In *Clark et al v. Union Pacific Ry. Co.*, 70 Utah 29, 257 Pac. 1050, the lower court directed a verdict for defendant, plaintiffs appealed and the trial court was reversed. Plaintiff brought action to recover for wrongful death resulting from a collision at a public crossing. There was considerable variance in the testimony of witnesses regarding warnings given by defendant. However, it was determined that visibility was relatively poor, and a fireman testified he saw decedent's truck some 125 feet from the crossing; that he supposed that the driver would stop and let the train go by, but that he failed to do so and was struck. The court states:

"The burden of proving contributory negligence, of course, was on the defendant. In absence of evidence, there is a presumption that the deceased looked and listened, and did all that prudence and due care required . . .

"The question thus is, does the record conclusively show that deceased failed to look and listen, and that by looking and listening he could have discovered the approach of the train in time to have stopped and let it pass?"

The court considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs found the question of contributory negligence to be for the jury and remanded for rehearing.

In *Baker v. Savos et al*, 52 Utah 262, 172 Pac. 672, a child was killed on Redwood Road near Taylorsville by an overtaking motor truck. No witnesses were found and the defendant denied knowledge of hitting the child. However, the jury basing their decision upon circumstantial evidence found for plaintiff, and in so doing considered the presumption of due care as to the dead child.

There are numerous cases in other jurisdictions dealing with this point and the following are leading California decisions.

In *Wright v. Sniffin et al*, 80 Cal. App. (2d) 358, 181 Pac. 2nd 675, plaintiff's daughter was killed on a bicycle as she turned left into defendant's vehicle without signaling. The court held:

"In spite of the evidence of the defendants that Norma failed to give left arm signal or any warning of her intention to cross the highway, plaintiff was entitled to the presumption that the deceased used due care for her own safety. . . . which created a conflict of evidence regarding that subject."

*Rios v. Bennett*, 88 Cal. App. (2d) 919, 200 Pac. 2nd 73, is a case in which decedent was killed by defendant's

vehicle at night as he walked diagonally across the street out of the pedestrian lane. Witness testified that deceased walked into the path of defendant's vehicle which witness had seen some 70 to 75 feet away. The court held that:

"A presumption existed that a pedestrian struck. . . by an automobile used ordinary care for his own safety and that in doing so he looked before he stepped out into the street."

The case of *Blackmore v. Brennan*, 43 Cal. App. (2d) 280, 110 Pac. 2nd 723, is another California case of wrongful death of a motorist in an open intersection. The court in this case said:

"In the absence of evidence overcoming the presumption it should prevail . . . In other words the jury was told in effect that it must determine whether sufficient evidence had been adduced to overcome that presumption."

*Duehren v. Stewart*, 39 Cal. App. 201, 102 Pac. 2nd 784, is a case in which decedent, a pedestrian, was killed while crossing in a crosswalk at an intersection. The mishap occurred at 8:00 P.M. Witnesses testified that decedent walked "pretty fast" and "didn't turn his head or look in the direction from which they were approaching." The lower court instructed the jury regarding the presumption of due care and appellant complained that it was error to give such instruction since

“Actions of deceased at time of accident were seen and amounted to contributory negligence as a matter of law . . . that they have (speaking of the instructions) no place in the record when evidence clearly demonstrates the action of injured or deceased party.

“It is contended that there is no conflict in the evidence as to the actions of the deceased from the time he was first observed on the sidewalk until he was struck; that he stepped down into the street and walked across the same at a moderate gait and at no time turned his head to look in the direction in which oncoming traffic might endanger his safety; that the appellate courts have held that ‘to look and fail to see’ what is perfectly obvious and apparent is negligence; that Mr. Watt testified that he saw the deceased on the sidewalk before he stepped into the street; that he saw him step into the street and that he was looking straight ahead at all times and walking at a moderate gait; that where all the facts and circumstances were proven, the court was not authorized to cast a presumption into the scales in favor of the plaintiff.

“Appellant does not argue that the evidence does not establish appellant’s negligence. The law gave to the deceased the right of way in a marked crosswalk. The appellant not only drove at an excessive rate of speed but passed another car at the intersection under circumstances where he could not have seen whether there were pedestrians in the crosswalk or not. That he was not keeping an accurate or sufficient lookout is conclusively demonstrated by his statement. No witness testifying on behalf of the respondents saw Mr. Duerhan at all as he approached Hill Street,

nor did any of respondent's witnesses observe him until he was first seen by Mrs. Watt some 10 or 15 feet out into the crosswalk. The presumption therefore, arose in the absence of evidence on the subject. There is therefore nothing to call that presumption to the attention of the jury unless the court did instruct them relative to its existence.

"It has been repeatedly held that disputable presumptions are evidence in a case . . . , and such presumption may be controverted by other evidence. . . . It has also been repeatedly held that it is a question for the jury to determine whether the presumption has been overcome by evidence offered in contradiction thereof. . . . Respondents produced no evidence to determine what observations Mr. Duehren made just before he attempted to cross the street. Appellant offered no evidence as to whether the deceased looked *prior to the time he stepped off the curb*. (Italics by court). Respondents were therefore entitled to the presumption above mentioned as their own evidence was reconcilable with it, and such presumption remained as evidence in the case until dispelled by evidence offered in contradiction thereof."

In *Greenslitt v. Three Brothers Banking Company*, 170 Ore. 345, 133 Pac. 2nd 597, decedent was struck by defendant's vehicle in daylight when decedent ran diagonally across a highway into the path of a truck. The court held:

"The evidence tending to show negligence on his part is not of such conclusive character as to overcome such presumption as a matter of law. The issue of contributory negligence was properly submitted to the jury."



The case of *Wiswell v. Shinnors*, 47 Cal. App. (2d) 156, 117 Pac. 2nd 677, deals with a pedestrian versus a motorist. In this case the pedestrian was struck and killed and there was evidence that he was not in a cross-walk when the accident occurred. At page 680, the Court says:

“In urging that the direct evidence furnished by an eye-witness in this case dissipated the presumptions established by law, respondents fail to appreciate the limitations upon the power of the trial court when directing a verdict as such limitations are laid down in *Estate of Flood* and *Estate of Lances*, supra. Under the familiar rules there enunciated, when there is a showing on behalf of the plaintiff of certain facts as in the instant case, certain physical facts, such as skid marks and their relation to the point of collision and the point at which the driver first applied his brakes; the speed of the automobile; the failure of the driver to sound his horn or otherwise give warning; the unobstructed view of deceased on the part of the driver for some considerable distance; the clearness of the weather and the dryness of the street, together with the presumptions relied upon; and when on the other hand, evidence both direct and circumstantial, favorable to their cause, is introduced by defendants, the latter evidence must be eliminated from consideration by the court for the purpose of ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict.

“We therefore conclude that appellant was entitled to the benefit of the presumptions here claimed until dispelled by evidence opposed to them, and that it was for the jury to determine whether the presumptions had been overcome

by evidence offered in contraction thereof, and which last-named evidence the court was not permitted to consider in ruling upon the motion for a directed verdict.

“Cases cited by respondents in support of their claim that the presumption is destroyed by evidence in contradiction thereof are all cases where appeals were taken from final judgments, in the rendition of which the court or jury was entitled to pass upon the weight of all the evidence submitted and to judge of the credibility of witnesses. Such power is not within the province of a court in ruling upon motions for non-suit or directed verdict.”

It will be noted that in many of the cases cited herein actual eye-witnesses testified regarding conduct of deceased which, if proven true, would definitely establish contributory negligence. However, even under these circumstances the court entertains the presumption and allows the jury to determine if the evidence has been sufficient to overcome it. In the case at hand there is no evidence regarding decedent's actions and it is mere conjecture that he failed to stop or that he failed to see what he should have seen. For this reason the court erred in directing a verdict for the defendant.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFFS UPON THE GROUND THAT DECEASED WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN THAT CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE WAS A QUESTION OF FACT FOR THE JURY.

Even assuming that had Mr. Gibbs looked he would have seen the approaching taxicab, it is strongly urged

by appellants that the question of the deceased's contributory negligence is one of fact and not one of law. The most recent Utah pronouncement upon this problem appears to be contained within the case entitled *Lowder v. Holley* (Utah-1951) 233 Pac. 2nd 350. In that case the plaintiff and defendant collided in an open intersection during the daytime. The negligence of the defendant was clear but there was ample evidence that had the plaintiff looked he would have seen the defendant and hence he was contributorily negligent. The court stated that it is true:

“That before entering an intersection the driver of a car must look and determine whether it is safe to enter. However, had plaintiff observed the truck (defendant's) just before he entered the intersection he would have been justified in considering it safe to enter because at that point the truck was being driven at the rate of fifty miles per hour and plaintiff was driving at from five to ten miles per hour . . . then the truck would have been at least 250 feet from the intersection since his car had traveled almost the entire distance across the intersection before the impact, and this being so, he could have assumed and acted under the assumption that the driver of the truck would exercise ordinary and reasonable care in his driving and that it would be safe to cross the intersection. Had defendant exercised such reasonable and ordinary care, the collision would not have occurred. Under such state of facts plaintiff's failure to see the truck would in no way have contributed to the accident. The Court therefore did not err in finding that plaintiff was not contributorily negligent.”

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