1951

Gertrude Gibbs, Lynn P. Gibbs and Gaye Gibbs Smith v. Blue Cab, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

One of the more recent expressions on this question by the Utah Supreme Court is found in the case of *Gren v. Norton*, (1949), 213 P. (2d) 356. In that case, the deceased drove his vehicle into the path of the defendant's truck, which was coming from the deceased's right on a through highway. It was undisputed that the deceased had an opportunity for an unobstructed view of the road to his right for several hundred feet, and while some witnesses gave testimony indicating that the deceased had not looked in that direction until just before impact, there was other evidence which indicated that it could not be determined with certainty whether the deceased had or had not turned his head sufficiently far to the north to observe the approach of the defendant's truck. The contention was made that, at the most, the deceased was guilty of an error in judgment in estimating that he could cross the highway safely, and

that in addition, he was entitled to a presumption that he used due care for his own safety. This Court, speaking through Justice Latimer, answered these contentions in the following language:

“The physical evidence and deceased’s acts and conduct were such that any presumption of due care has been destroyed. One look to the north at any time after deceased cleared the east lanes would have apprised a reasonably careful driver that the movement across the west lanes would not be made in safety.”

It is our contention that the same statement can be made in answer to appellants’ argument in this case. One look to the right by the deceased, F. Parley Gibbs, would have apprised him that he could not cross 23rd Street in safety, and from all the evidence available in the record, it is clear that the presumption of due care, if it ever existed in this case, has been destroyed.

From the foregoing cases, we urge that Utah law on the presumption of due care is as follows:

(a) a person in a place of danger is presumed to have exercised due care for his safety, if there is no evidence as to how the accident happened.

(b) the presumption does not extend to a presumption that he did or did not do any particular act.

(c) that where there is uncontradicted testimony showing how the accident happened, and where that testimony, together with the physical facts available

and the logical inferences to be drawn from the testimony and physical facts, all point irresistibly to the conclusion that the accident would not have happened had the deceased used due care, the presumption is inapplicable and cannot be considered in deciding the issue.

Applying these principles to the facts of the instant case, it is at once apparent that the presumption of due care cannot be relied upon to decide this case. If the deceased had looked to his right, at or north of the stop sign, it is undisputed that he could have seen the cab for at least one city block. If he was riding his bicycle, or if he was pushing it, he still had ample opportunity to obey the law, and either wait at the stop sign, or yield the right of way to a vehicle on a through street. Had he done so, no accident could have happened. It is not likely that he would have consciously proceeded into the intersection in the path of the cab, and it is therefore the only logical conclusion that he did not look to the right and never saw the cab. However, whether he looked, and paid no heed, or whether he failed to look at all, the result is the same. He was negligent in either particular, and he cannot be said to have exercised due care. Added to these factors is the additional omission by the deceased in failing to have a light or lamp upon his bicycle, although required to do so by law.

In those cases discussed by appellants where a deceased entered upon a railroad track and was killed, the Court has applied the presumption because a conflict existed as to whether or not the deceased, had he looked, could have seen the train. Thus, it became a fact question as to whether his failure to look could have contributed to the accident. See *Davis v. R. R. Co.*, supra. In the case at bar, no such conflict exists, because it is clear and certain, from this record, that the deceased, had he looked, could have seen the cab, or, at least, its headlights. The trial court so found after his inspection (Tr. 87). The only way the deceased could have failed to know about the cab was if he failed to look. Therefore, reasonable minds cannot differ on the statement that he could not have exercised due care.

In view of the foregoing, we submit that the presumption of due care, if it ever existed under the facts of this case, has been effectively overcome and is not a factor to be considered, in the light of the evidence and inferences to be drawn therefrom.

II. THE TRIAL COURT RULED CORRECTLY, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT F. PARLEY GIBBS, THE DECEASED, WAS GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE WHICH CONTRIBUTED TO HIS DEATH.

The appellants have discussed this phase of the case under their Points numbered II and III. Their approach is nothing more or less than an attempt to urge the Court to overrule a long line of decisions which hold in substance that where a person enters a through highway in the face of oncoming traffic, and

either fails to keep a lookout for such traffic, or, looking, fails to heed what he sees, and his failure in either regard contributes to the accident, he will be held to have been guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law.

There are many cases decided by this Court which are based upon these fundamental principles, and among them are the following: *Bullock v. Luke*, 98 P. (2d) 350; *Conklin v. Walsh*, 193 P. (2d) 437; *Hickok v. Skinner*, 190 P. (2d) 514; *Gren v. Norton*, *supra*.

Only one of these cases, namely, the *Hickok* case, is cited in appellants' brief. We submit that these decisions correctly state the law, and even if the Court should desire to re-examine the principles announced in these cases, the facts in the case at bar do not justify such a re-examination.

The principles announced in these and related cases indicate clearly that appellants were not entitled to go to the jury in this case, even when the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to them. Gibbs approached a through highway apparently as he had done on many previous occasions. The intersection is but a few doors from his home, and it is logical to assume that he was familiar with it. Perhaps it was this familiarity which led to his disregard of the fundamental rules of safety and the traffic laws of this state. In any event, it is undisputed that for at least ten steps

before he reached the stop sign, which is a few feet north of the curb line, he had an unobstructed view of the street to his right, for at least the distance of one city block. No other traffic was on the road, and nothing in the record indicates that any condition existed which would confuse him or justify his inability to see the headlights of the approaching cab. As a practical matter, he could have seen the headlights of the cab for a distance of more than one city block, and the headlights would have been clearly visible to him at any point in which the cab might have been had he looked for it. This would be the fact, whether he was riding his bicycle or walking along pushing it, or standing still at the entrance to the intersection. As previously indicated, however, the logical inference is that he was riding the bicycle.

If he stopped at the stop sign and then proceeded into the street in the path of the oncoming taxicab, he was guilty of negligence in entering 23rd Street at a time when another vehicle was approaching so close as to constitute an immediate hazard. He was guilty of this negligence whether he failed to look for the taxicab, or whether he looked and failed to heed what he saw.

If the deceased did not stop at the intersection, but proceeded blindly into it, he was equally guilty of negligence in failing to keep a proper lookout and also in failing to stop at the entrance to a through

highway. In addition to these failures, he compounded his negligence by operating a bicycle on the streets of Ogden at a time prior to 30 minutes before sunrise without having a lamp on the front of the bicycle, as required by the ordinances of the city of Ogden.

In addition to those omissions, it is quite clear that the deceased could have avoided the accident at any time, had he exercised ordinary care, either by stepping off the bicycle, or by turning the wheel, or by braking to a stop in the distance of more than $27\frac{1}{2}$ feet which he had to traverse in order to reach the area of impact, as indicated on the stipulated diagram. So far as can be determined, he did none of these things, and took no action to avoid the accident, unless it can be said that the position of the front wheel of the bicycle as the respondent's driver turned the wheels of the cab, indicates that Gibbs had made an effort to turn the bicycle from a due south course to his left in order to avoid the area of impact.

No assertion is made by appellants, and indeed, none could be made, that Gibbs did not have a duty of due care as he approached the intersection. He was governed by the same rules as a motorist, and this is so whether he was riding his bicycle or was pushing it. As was said by this Court in the case of *Mingus v. Olsson*, *supra*,

“the rights of pedestrians to the use of the public streets are the same as those of motorists—neither greater nor less. Hence, a pedestrian crossing a public street * * *, although he may have the right of way over vehicular traffic, nonetheless has the duty to observe for such traffic.”

In view of this principle of law, we assert that Gibbs had the same duty of care as would be required of a motorist who entered 23rd Street from Jefferson Avenue on the morning in question. This being so, his conduct must be judged in the same manner as this Court has judged the conduct of drivers who have been involved in intersection collisions in the cases previously cited in this portion of our argument.

An examination of the cited cases makes it abundantly clear that no person can enter an intersection such as the one involved in this case without observing conditions to his left and to his right and thereafter paying heed to what his observation reveals. This is a fundamental doctrine that has been recognized by the courts in steadily increasing numbers since the advent of the automobile. Our examination does not reveal that the Supreme Court of Utah has varied from these principles down to the time of the writing of this brief. Appellants seem to argue to the contrary, and take comfort from a number of decisions, the latest of which is the case of *Lowder v. Holley*, (1951), 233 P. (2d) 350. The *Lowder* case does not represent any

principle different from that for which we contend. It was a case in which the trial judge was the trier of the fact, and the Supreme Court, in its opinion, simply says that there was evidence upon which the trial court could have found that the plaintiff was justified in assuming that the defendant would exercise ordinary care. Under the facts of the case, says the Court, plaintiff's failure to see the truck would in no way have contributed to the accident. What this holding means, as we view the matter, is simply this: that the plaintiff in the Lowder case might have been negligent, but he was not necessarily contributorily negligent, since his negligence could not have contributed to the accident, and the negligence of the driver of the opposing car was the sole and proximate cause of the accident. The facts in the Lowder case differ greatly from the facts in this case, and the Lowder decision is therefore not controlling here. In the Lowder case, the evidence was clear, and the Court found, that the driver of the defendant's truck was speeding, which, of course, would have affected the appearance of the situation at the time the plaintiff in that case was required to look for oncoming traffic. Further, Lowder looked for traffic and saw none. His view of the road was not complete. In the case at bar, the evidence is uncontradicted that the defendant's taxicab was proceeding at a safe speed and within both the letter and spirit of the speed ordinances. The view of the road available to the deceased was complete and unobstructed. The only evidence in the record as to

speed is that of the respondent's driver, which is that he was travelling 20 to 25 miles per hour. The distance within which he stopped the taxicab on the wet street bears out this testimony. As an additional indication of its accuracy, we have the fact that so far as is determined by the record, the deceased made no accusation, started no argument, and made no protestations of innocence in the seconds immediately following the accident. It is logical to assume that had the deceased been of the opinion that the taxicab was going at an excessive speed and that that belief caused confusion in his mind, he would have made some accusation to that effect. It is equally logical, of course, that respondent's driver would have been careful to omit such an accusation from his recital of the facts, but there is the testimony of the disinterested witness Tyler, who appeared on the scene in time to hear the deceased say, "I am all right," and who did not testify concerning any further conversation. Had there been any further conversation, particularly of an argumentative nature, Tyler no doubt would have recalled it.

The Lowder decision represents no new doctrine, in view of its facts, and a careful reading of the opinion convinces us that the Court, by that decision, did not overrule, either expressly or by implication, the well-considered and established decisions found in the cases of *Bullock v. Luke*, *Hickok v. Skinner*, *Conklin v. Walsh* and *Gren v. Norton*, *supra*.

The other cases cited by appellants in support of the "doctrine" of the Lowder case likewise bear no resemblance to the case at bar. In the case of *Spackman v. Carson*, (Utah, 1950), 216 P. (2d) 640, the Court said, at page 642, "This case stands strictly on its own facts". The Court then goes on to say that the case is a close one, and it is clear from the opinion that the case was not without difficulty. In each of the other cases cited by appellants, and particularly in the case of *Martin v. Sheffield*, 112 Utah 478, 189 P. (2d) 127, there were conflicts in the evidence which could only be resolved by jury consideration. No such conflict appears in our case.

It is true that only in a clear case should a verdict be directed against a plaintiff upon the ground of contributory negligence. What is usually meant by "a clear case" is a case in which the minds of reasonable men could not differ on the facts presented. There is no possibility in this case that the minds of reasonable men could differ as to the cause, or at least the contributing cause, of this accident. Had Gibbs not entered the intersection into the path of the respondent's taxicab, this accident would not have occurred. As has been demonstrated, his entrance into the intersection under the circumstances prevailing at the time, could only have been the result of negligence. His negligence, therefore, started an unbroken chain of events which led to the impact, and even if it be said that the respondent's driver was negligent, there can

be no doubt that Gibbs' negligence acted in concert with, and concurred with, the negligence of the cab driver to bring about this accident. Under such circumstances, we assert it would have been error for the trial court to deny respondent's motion for a directed verdict, and the ruling of the trial court in granting the motion should therefore be affirmed.

III. THE RULING OF THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED, EVEN IF THE GROUNDS ASSIGNED BY THE TRIAL COURT ARE INADEQUATE, WHERE, AS HERE, IT APPEARS FROM THE ENTIRE RECORD THAT A VERDICT FOR THE DEFENDANT WOULD HAVE BEEN REQUIRED IN ANY EVENT.

The trial court, in announcing the reason for his decision, stated that he believed that Gibbs was negligent in the particulars hereinbefore discussed, and that the negligence of Gibbs concurred with the negligence of the cab driver. For the purposes of the motion, the trial court apparently assumed that the taxicab driver was negligent, and the additional negligence on the part of Gibbs in operating a bicycle without a light was apparently not considered.

It is a familiar principle of law that if a trial court, in directing a verdict, commits error upon the basis of the announced grounds for his decision, the error is harmless if the record of the trial is such that a verdict for the defendant would be required in any event. *Sullivan v. Beneficial Life Ins. Co.*, 91 Utah 405, 64 P. (2d) 351; 5 C.J.S., Appeal and Error, Sec.

1849, page 1334, and cases cited therein. Therefore, if this Court should feel some doubt as to the correctness of the ruling of the trial court, as viewed in the light of the reasons assigned at the time the motion for directed verdict was granted, nevertheless the ruling of the trial court should be sustained, if upon the whole record it appears that a verdict for the defendant would have been required in any event.

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